IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MBER
:
:
:
:
:
:
•

FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

James C. Blecke Counsel for Villazon Deutsch & Blumberg, P.A. New World Tower, Suite 2802 100 North Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 358-6329

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Villazon brought this medical malpractice wrongful death action against PruCare and other health care providers. PruCare is an HMO and as such is a health care provider required to provide comprehensive health care. HMO's are "health care

providers" under Chapter 766, Medical Malpractice. Section 766.102(1), Florida Statutes (1997). See, Weinstock v. Groth, 629 So.2d 835, 836-7 (Fla. 1993). By statutory definition, a Health Maintenance Organization, "Provides emergency care, inpatient hospital services, physician care . . . diagnostic treatment, and preventive health care services." Section 641.19(13), Florida Statutes (1997). A "Health Maintenance Contract" is a contract between an HMO and its subscribers "to provide comprehensive health care." Section 641.19(12), Florida Statutes (1997).

The sole claim against PruCare was one of vicarious liability for the negligence of the various PruCare physicians, including PruCare's "Primary Care Physician" Dr. Sarnow. On motion for summary judgment, the trial court determined as a matter of law that the claims of vicarious liability were preempted by ERISA and the District Court affirmed. The District Court also held that there is no support for the proposition that PruCare had a non-delegable statutory and contractual duty to provide comprehensive health care.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District holds that claims against an HMO for its vicarious liability for the negligence of its contracting physicians are preempted by ERISA. This is in direct conflict with the Fourth District holding that claims against an HMO for its

vicarious liability for the negligence of its contracting physicians are not preempted by ERISA. <u>In re Estate of Frappier</u>, 678 So.2d 884, 886-7 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

The Third District also holds that there is no cause of action for vicarious liability under a theory of non-delegable duty created by statute or contract. This holding conflicts with a long line of cases to the contrary. Atchley v. First Union Bank of Florida, 576 So.2d 340, 343-4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); CISU of Florida, Inc. v. Porter, 457 So.2d 1118, 1119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Irving v. Doctors Hospital of Lake Worth, Inc., 415 So.2d 55, 57 n.2 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. den., 422 So.2d 842 (Fla. 1982); Mills v. Krauss, 114 So.2d 817, 819 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959), cert. den., 119 So.2d 293 (Fla.1960).

JURISDICTIONAL ARGUMENT

I.

In re Estate of Frappier, 678 So.2d 884 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), says:

Properly phrased, the issue becomes whether Frappier's claims against Health Options as delineated in counts III-VI of the complaint are to *recover* plan benefits due, or to *enforce* rights, or to *clarify* rights to benefits under the terms of the plan, as those concepts are detailed in section 502(a)(1)(B) of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B). [678 So.2d at 886, emphasis by the Court].

Thus where, as here, an ERISA is implicated by a complaint for failing to provide, arrange for, or supervise qualified doctors to provide the actual medical treatment for plan participants, federal preemption is inappropriate. [citations omitted]. Therefore, even if Health Options is an ERISA subject to federal preemption, we must conclude that the trial court erred in dismissing the vicarious liability count of the instant complaint. [678 So.2d at 887].

Villazon did not sue PruCare to *recover* plan benefits due, or to *enforce* rights, or to *clarify* rights to benefits under the terms of the plan. Villazon "does not allege that his wife was denied proper medical testing and referrals to specialists." (slip op. at p. 3). Villazon sued PruCare for its vicarious liability for the negligence of PruCare physicians (slip op. at pp. 2-3). "Because the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA)., 29 U.S.C. § 1144(a), preempts Villazon's claim, we affirm." (Slip op. at pp. 1-2). The Third District's conclusion that Villazon's vicarious liability claims are preempted by ERISA directly conflicts with the Fourth District's decision and analysis in <u>Frappier</u>.

II.

Quoting hornbook and turn of the century case law, the Second District in Mills v. Krauss, 114 So.2d 817, 819 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959), cert. den., 119 So.2d 293 (Fla.1960), sets out the following settled principles:

'... one who, by a specific agreement, undertakes to do some particular thing, or to do it in a certain manner, cannot by employing an independent contractor, avoid responsibility for an injury resulting from the nonperformance of any duty or duties which, under the express terms of the agreement or by implication of law, are assumed by the undertaker.'

* * *

'The rule is clear beyond argument that one who undertakes by contract to do for another a given thing cannot excuse himself to the other for a faulty performance, or a failure to perform, by showing that he has engaged another to perform in his place, and that the fault or failure is that of another or independent contractor.'

In <u>Irving v. Doctors Hospital of Lake Worth, Inc.</u>, 415 So.2d 55, 57 n.2 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. den.</u>, 422 So.2d 842 (Fla. 1982), the Fourth District follows <u>Mills v. Krauss</u>, and finds the following jury charge an appropriate statement of non-delegable duty liability for an independent contractor:

[O]ne who undertakes by contract to do for another a given thing cannot excuse himself to the other for a faulty performance, or a failure to perform, by showing that he has engaged another to perform in his place, and that the fault or failure is that of another or independent contractor.

In <u>CISU of Florida</u>, Inc. v. Porter, 457 So.2d 1118, 1119 n.2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the First District follows <u>Mills v. Krauss</u> and <u>Irving v. Doctors Hospital</u>

in recognizing that a party cannot insulate itself from liability by hiring an independent contractor to perform its duties, and explains:

Holding a particular undertaking to be nondelegable means that *responsibility*, i.e., ultimate liability, for the proper performance of that undertaking may not be delegated. The term nondelegable does not preclude delegation of the actual *performance* of the task. 'Nondelegable' applies to the liabilities arising from the delegated duties if breached. [emphasis by the Court].

In Atchley v. First Union Bank of Florida, 576 So.2d 340, 343-4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), the bank was selling real estate with the promise, should roof repairs be required, "Seller shall pay . . . for such repairs or replacements by an appropriately licensed person." 576 So.2d at 341 n.1. The Fifth District holds the bank responsible for negligent roof repairs even though the bank was obviously not itself in the roofing business and performance was agreed to be by an independent licensed roofer:

The general rule that a employer is not liable for the torts of an independent contractor hired by him to do specific work, is subject to many exceptions. One, which applies here, is when the employer specifically undertakes, pursuant to a contract, to do something for another.

This is sometimes called the category of "nondelegable" duties. What is actually meant, however, is that although the duty to perform may be delegated to an independent contractor, the liability for misfeasance cannot be avoided

by the person who obligated himself originally to perform the contract.

PruCare is a licensed HMO and a licensed health care provider obligated to provide Susan Villazon with comprehensive health care. It is no defense to a claim of liability for the breach of this duty that the negligent performance was by independent contractors. The Third District's contrary holding is in direct conflict with this longstanding settled case law on nondelegable duty.

CONCLUSION

This Court should accept jurisdiction and on the merits quash the decision of the District Court.

James C. Blecke Counsel for Villazon Deutsch & Blumberg, P.A. New World Tower, Suite 2802 100 North Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 358-6329

James C. Blecke

Fla. Bar No. 136047