IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER SC01-1397

FILED THOMAS D. HALL AUG 1 4 2001

0 d-

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ROLANDO VILLAZON, as Personal Representative of the Estate of SUSAN COHEN VILLAZON, deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC.,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Steven M. Ziegler, Esquire Counsel for Respondent: Prudential Health Care Plan, Inc. Law Offices of Steven M. Ziegler, P.A. 4000 Hollywood Boulevard Suite 375 South Hollywood, Florida 33021 (954) 966-2696

###

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The trial court granted Summary Judgment in favor of PRUDENTIAL holding that Plaintiff's claims for vicarious liability and non-delegable duty directly related to PRUDENTIAL'S administration of the health plan, and therefore, were preempted under § 514 of ERISA. As a separate and independent ground, the trial court also granted Summary Judgment based on well established state law holding that an Independent Practice Association Health Maintenance Organization

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Throughout the Brief, Respondent will be referred to as "PRUDENTIAL" or "Defendant." ROLANDO VILLAZON will be referred to as "Petitioner" or "Plaintiff. The Opinion by the Third District Court of Appeal will be designated by an "A".

("IPA HMO"), such as PRUDENTIAL, is not responsible for the acts of independently practicing health care providers, and that there is no basis under Florida law to hold an IPA HMO liable on theories of statutory or contractual non-delegable duty. The Third District affirmed the ruling of the trial court on each of these two separate and independent grounds, and did not certify a conflict with any decision of another District Court.

The uncontroverted evidence adduced by PRUDENTIAL for the trial court established that Plaintiff's late wife, Susan Villazon, was a member, through her employer, of PRUDENTIAL. (A.2). Plaintiff's theories of liability against PRUDENTIAL were premised on PRUDENTIAL's administration of the health plan through which PRUDENTIAL allegedly influenced the manner in which the health care providers rendered care and treatment.  $(A.2).^2$ 

The uncontroverted evidence also established that PRUDENTIAL, as an IPA HMO, entered into contracts with independent contracted physicians, who had their own independent practices and who agreed to provide covered services for a

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  "At the summary judgment hearing, Plaintiff argued that PRUDENTIAL, as part of the management of health care benefits, decides who provides the benefits, when those benefits are provided, where the benefits are provided, and why those benefits need to be provided. Plaintiff also alleged that PRUDENTIAL controlled the referral process, and required that authorization be obtained prior to the performance of certain tests and procedures." (A.2).

contracted rate. (A.6). PRUDENTIAL never contracted with Susan Villazon to render any medical services, and only contracted to provide such care through the use of these independently contracted health care providers. (A.7). PRUDENTIAL did not exercise any control over the medical judgments and decisions made in the care and treatment of patients, including Susan Villazon. (A.7).

Petitioner's jurisdictional brief only seeks review of the Third District's decision that ERISA preempts Plaintiff's vicarious liability claims and the Third District's decision that there is no cause of action against PRUDENTIAL for breach of non-delegable duty under state law.<sup>i</sup>

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should not exercise discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision by the Third District in this case, holding that Plaintiff's claims for vicarious liability were preempted under ERISA. Petitioner argues erroneously that the Third District's decision is in direct conflict with the Fourth District's decision in <u>Frappier</u>. Not only is the Third District's decision not in conflict with <u>Frappier</u>, it is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioner does not seek review of the Third District's decision pertaining to actual agency or apparent agency based on state law grounds. Nor does Petitioner seek review of the Third District's decision that Petitioner claims predicated on non-delegable duty are preempted by ERISA.

supported by <u>Frappier</u>. Both courts used the same rule of law to reach their conclusions, to wit; claims based on an ERISA plan's administration are preempted.

Frappier was decided on a Motion to Dismiss, while this case was decided on a Motion for Summary Judgment, after evidence was adduced to demonstrate that Plaintiff's claims for vicarious liability involved administration of an ERISA plan. The Third District correctly relied on Frappier for its holding, as Frappier recognized that claims based on an ERISA plan's administration are preempted, and in fact, held that the claims direct negligence, corporate liability, and implied for contract, necessarily involved the administration of the health plan, and therefore, are preempted. Frappier simply held that claims for vicarious liability should not be dismissed, on the basis of ERISA preemption, at the initial pleading stage. While Frappier did not address whether claims for vicarious liability can be found to be preempted at the Motion for Summary Judgment stage when evidence is adduced, the reasoning in Frappier supports this conclusion. In any event, Frappier does not conflict with the ruling of the Third District in this case.

Petitioner also argues erroneously that the Third District's holding conflicts with a long line of cases in which courts have recognized, in certain contexts, a cause of action under a theory of non-delegable duty created by statute or by

contract. Petitioner's argument completely ignores the specific facts in this case. The Third District did not hold that there could never be a cause of action stated under such a theory. Instead, the Third District held that there is no basis for such a claim based on non-delegable duty against PRUDENTIAL, an IPA HMO. The Third District applied the rule of law followed by all District Courts to conclude that there is no contractual nondelegable duty, as PRUDENTIAL never contracted to perform the actual care and treatment. Additionally, there is no District Court decision in Florida holding that there is a statutory nondelegable duty for an IPA HMO, and therefore, no conflict could exist. Therefore, this Court should not exercise jurisdiction to review the Third District's decision.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION IN FRAPPIER.

In <u>Frappier</u>, the court ruled that vicarious liability claims could not be dismissed on the basis of ERISA preemption, pursuant to a motion to dismiss the complaint.<sup>i</sup> The <u>Frappier</u> court also recognized that the claims for direct negligence, corporate liability, and implied contract, as pled, could only

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Petitioner is not arguing, and could not argue, that the Third District's opinion that the non-delegable duty claims were preempted is in conflict with <u>Frappier</u>, as that court specifically ruled that non-delegable duty claims are preempted by ERISA. <u>Id.</u> at 887.

be proven by evidence relating to the administration of the health plan, and therefore, held that those claims were preempted by §514 of ERISA. In holding that the vicarious liability claims should not be dismissed at the initial pleading stage, the <u>Frappier</u> court relied on §502 of ERISA and the case of <u>Dukes v. United States Health Care Sys. of Pa., Inc.</u>, 57 F.3d 350 (3d Cir. 1995), which held that vicarious liability claims are not "completely preempted," and therefore, not subject to dismissal upon removal to federal court. The <u>Dukes</u> court also recognized that vicarious liability claims could be preempted by §514 of ERISA, upon remand to state court once evidence was adduced that demonstrated that the claims "related to" the administration of the health plan.

In the instant case, PRUDENTIAL did not seek dismissal of the vicarious liability claims at the motion to dismiss stage. Rather, PRUDENTIAL filed a Motion for Summary Judgment introducing evidence that Plaintiff's claims relate to the administration of the health plan. The Third District, citing to Frappier, and following the Fourth District's rationale in Frappier, held that claims that relate to the administration of a health plan are preempted, and therefore, upheld the Summary Judgment entered in favor of PRUDENTIAL. Accordingly, not only is the Third District's decision not in conflict with Frappier, but Frappier provides the basis for the decision in this case.

This Court in Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1960), citing to Florida Power & Light Co. v. Bell, 113 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1959), established the situations that would justify conflict jurisdiction, which include: (1)the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced; or (2) the application of a rule of law to different result produce a in а case which involves substantially the same controlling facts. Id. at 734.

As demonstrated above, there is absolutely no conflict between the holding in Frappier on the vicarious liability claim and the Third District's ruling in this case. The same rule of law was applied in both cases. If claims relate to the administration of the subject health plan, then these claims are preempted by ERISA. The Frappier holding simply establishes that if the pleadings do not implicate the administration of the health plan, then a party should be at least be allowed to plead the cause of action. However, as the Third District correctly ruled, once the case is fully developed and the record demonstrates that all of the claims are based on the administration of the health plan, summary judgment based on ERISA preemption is appropriate.

## II. THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF ANY OTHER DISTRICT COURT ON NON-DELEGABLE DUTY.

Contrary to Petitioner's argument, the Third District's ruling in this case that PRUDENTIAL did not have a <u>contractual</u> non-delegable duty is based on the same rule of law applied in the cases cited by Petitioner, in <u>Atchley v. First Union Bank of</u> <u>Florida</u>, 576 So.2d 340 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1991); <u>CISU of Florida, Inc.</u> <u>v. Porter</u>, 457 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1984); <u>Irving v. Doctors</u> <u>Hosp. Of Lake Worth, Inc.</u>, 415 So.2d 55 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1982); and <u>Mills v. Krauss</u>, 114 So.2d 817 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959), and therefore, the Third District's decision does not conflict with these cases.

In all of the cases relied upon by Petitioner, the nondelegable duty to perform a certain task was clear and certain through contract. In <u>Atchley</u>, <u>supra</u>, the defendant vendor contracted to specifically perform roof repairs. Similarly, in <u>CISU of Florida, Inc.</u>, <u>supra</u>, the defendant lessor contracted to specifically perform roof repairs. In <u>Irving</u>, <u>supra</u>, the hospital's non-delegable duty arose out of an implied contract between the hospital and the patient, whereby the patient could properly assume that the treating doctors and staff were acting on behalf of the hospital. <u>Id.</u> at 61. Lastly, in <u>Mills</u>, <u>supra</u>, the defendant general contractor contracted to specifically undertake the task of repairing the premises. <u>Id.</u> at 821.

The rule of law followed in these cases is that when a party specifically undertakes, pursuant to a contract, to do something for another, the duty to perform that task may be delegated, but not the liability. In the cases cited by Petitioner, the defendants agreed to provide specific services without reference to those services being performed by a third party. Clearly, the key for the courts in these cases was that the defendant specifically had undertaken, pursuant to a contract, to do something for another.

In the instant case, the Third District applied this rule of law and concluded that in the context of an IPA HMO, wherein the contracts and all of the record evidence clearly and unambiguously demonstrate that the medical care was going to be rendered by independent practicing health care providers, a contractual non-delegable duty could not exist through which PRUDENTIAL could be held liable. The Third District, after reviewing the complete record and the relevant contracts, found that "PRUDENTIAL never contracted with Villazon's wife to render any medical services and only contracted to provide such care through the use of its primary care physicians and participating health care providers" (A.7). This finding by the Third District shows that this contractual arrangement is totally unlike the arrangement in <u>Atchley</u>, <u>CISU of Florida, Inc., Irving</u>, and Mills, and therefore, a non-delegable duty was never created.

CASE NUMBER SC01-1397

Clearly, the Third District applied the same rule of law applied by the courts in the cases cited by Petitioner, but reached a different conclusion based on the facts of this case. Therefore, conflict jurisdiction is not appropriate. <u>Nielsen</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Florida Power & Light Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Petitioner in the Summary of Argument also seems to suggest that the Third District's ruling that there is no liability under a <u>statutory</u> non-delegable duty is also in conflict with <u>Atchley</u>, <u>CISU of Florida</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, <u>Irving</u>, and <u>Mills</u>. However, as developed above, these holdings do not address statutory nondelegable duties. In fact, the ruling by the Third District that there is no statutory non-delegable duty through which an IPA HMO can be held liable is the first by any District Court in Florida. Therefore, there is absolutely no conflict from which this Court can exercise conflict jurisdiction in regard to the Third District's holding regarding the absence of a statutory non-delegable duty in this case.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should not take discretionary jurisdiction to review the Third District's decision that Petitioner's claims based on vicarious liability theories were preempted by ERISA, and that there is no recognizable cause of action for breach of a non-delegable duty against PRUDENTIAL, an IPA HMO, under state law.